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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

ROBERT C. TAYLOR
Plaintiff, o

Civil CaseNo. 10-1071BAH)

V.

KAREN G. MILLS, Judge Beryl A. Howell

Administrator,U.S. Small Business
Administration

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

The plaintiff Robert Taylor, who is an Area Director for Government Contrafdirifpe
Office of Government Contracting@GC’) at theUnited State$Small Business Administration
(“SBA”), brings this action against his current employer Karen G. MAtsninistraor of the
SBA, alleging a violation of Title VIl of the Civil Rights Act @964, 42 U.S.C. § 200G seq
The plaintiffclaimsthat the SBA unlawfully retaliated against him for engaging in the legally
protected activity of providing testimony in comtien with an Equal Employment Office
(“EEQ”) investigationof discrimination claims filed by two of the plaintiff's form8BA
subordinatesSeed. § 2000e3(a). Specifically, the plaintiff alleges in his single count of
retaliation that the SBA falsglowered his 200@erformance evaluatiguenied his requests to
hire additional staffdenied higravel requestglenied his request telecommute on a fixed
scheduleandunjustifiably scrutinized andrdicized his workperformance Compl.q116, 21—
25, ECF No. 1. Pending before the Court is the defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment

for the reasons set forth below, the Court grdinat motion
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BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

The plaintiffis the Area 5 Director for th@GC at the SBA.SeeCompl.  7Def.’s
Statement oMaterial Facts (“Def.’s SMF”) 1%3—44, ECF No. 14-1.The OGCis oneof four
offices that compristhe Office of Government Contracting and Business Development
(“GCBD”) within the SBA Def.’s SMF{ 11;see alsdef.’s Mot. Summ J. Ex. EE, ECF No.
14-7. In turn, the GCBD is one of twergix offices thamake up th&&BA Headquarters.

Within the OGC, a Director of Government Contracting and Deputy Director of
Government Contracting superviseAssistantDirector for Contact Assistance. SeeDef.’s
SMF{ 13; Def.’s Mot. Summ. Ex. Eat 1, ECF No. 14-3. TeAssistantDirector for Contract
Assistance “directly supervises all six Area Directors in the [QGHDH “[a]rea Directors
supervise employees in offices locatedlifferent areas of the country throughout the states in
their specific areas.Def.’s SMF{ 18, 112. In particular, Area 5 covers states (Texas,
Colorado, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Arkansas, and Louisiana), and the “duty ‘statitime
Area 5 Direcbr is located aSBA’s Fott Worth, Texas District Officeld. 138-39.

The plaintiff has been employed by the SBA since 19@8 1. In September of 2006,

the plaintiff was elevated to his first supervisory posttidhe Assistant Director for Contrac

! The Plaintiff's Statement of Material Facts in Dispute (“Pl.'s SMIEECF No. 171, is not formatted in a manner
that sets out each fact in a separate, numbered paragraph supported by speoifitccietiord evidence. The
plaintiff's failure to format is SMF in this way has made it more difficult for the Court to disedrich facts are in
dispute, particularly because the plaintiff intersperses disputed falstbath undisputed facts and serving
arguments. Nevertheless, the Plaintiff's Stitfes in its own way,'set[] forth all material facts as to which it is
contended there exists a genuine issue necessary to be litigittetieferences to the parts of the record relied
on.” LCvR 7(h). To the extent the plaintiff's SMF either fails to test facts stated in the defendant’'s SMF or, in
S0 contesting, fails to refer to the portion of the record supportiniguthgal dispute, the Court will “assurtieat
factsidentified by thddefendant]n its statement of material facise admitted.”ld.

2SeeU.S. Small Bus. Admin., SBA Office Lishttp://www.sba.gov/aboutfficeslist/1 (last visited Sep4, 2012).

3t is unclear from the record what the correct title of this position i® dBfiendant refers to the plaintiff's position
variably as the “Assistant Director for Contract Assistance,” the “Assobiméctor for Contract Assistance,” and
the “Assistant Administrator for Contract Assistanc€8mpareDef.’'s SMF{14, 710, with id. § 13,with Mem. P

& A. in Supp. Def.’s Mot. Summ J:ef.’s Mem.”) at 3, ECF No. 14. The Court will refer to it by the monike
most often used: Assistant Director for Contract Assistance.
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Assistancelocatedin the SBA’s headquarters in Washington, DIG. 16, 9. Hierarchically,
as discussed abouwhe Assistant Director for Contract Assistance reports to the Diraador a
Deputy Director for Government Contracting and directly supesvall six Area Directors in the
OGC. Id. 11113, 18. In 2007, howevehe plaintiffdecided that he and his family wanted to
move to Texas, and so he requested in January 2008 to take the position of Area 5 Director,
which his supervisors approvettl. 1140-42. With the retirement of the plaintiff's predecessor
on February 1, 2008, the plaintiff becarhe Acting Area 5 Director On July 6, 200&he
plaintiff officially becamethe Area 5 Directgrandin August 2008the plaintiff relocated to
Texas to assume his new positioBee id ] 4045, 47.
1. Butler and McClam EEOActions

In the fall of 2007, wen the plaintiff was still the Assistant Direcfor Contract
Assistance, hdirectly supevisedtwo employees named Edith Butler and Pamela McCliain
119 Pl’s Mem. P& A. in Opp’n Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. (“Pl.’s Opp’n”) Ex. 2, at 4, ECF No.
17-8. According to the plaintiff, bth women were “outstanding performers whose duties for
several years included responsibilities above their GS deadé€- Pl.’'s SMF at 2.As a result,
the plaintiff attempted to get them promotions throagirocedure called “accretion of duties.”
Def.’s SMF { 20.As its name impliesthe “accretion of duties” procedure involves an
evaluation of an employee’s currenitigés by the human resources departnfeaited a “desk
audit”) to determine whether that employee should be able formally td.ad@dgcrete) further
duties and be promoted to a higher pay grade in the pro8esBl.’'s SMF at 2 Def.’s SMF
1 21. The SBA Office of Human Capital Management, howeiwrdgrmedthe plaintiff that to
accomplish his goal, he should initiate two “recruitment actions” for GS-14pegégions and

limit recruitment to only SBA employee®ef.’s SMF{ 21. These actions werboth cancelled



sometimen the spring of 2008, though the record is unclear exactly when that occ8ged.
Pl.’s Opp’'n Exs. 1-2, ECF Nos. 17-8, 17-9.

In May and June of 2008, respectively, both Ms. McClam and Ms. Butler filed
administrative EEO complaints against the SBA as a result of the cancelethrest actions
claiming thatthey had been passed over for promotions based on their gender, age (over 40), and
race (African American)Seeid. The plaintiff was interviewed by EEO counselors in
conrection with both complaints May and June 2008 respectively, and he told the EEO that
“someone (unknown) in the building, asked to have the announcements pulled,” and that “Ms.
Butler’'s promotion was halted due to a change in management in January of RD@’1, at
7;id. Ex. 2, at 6.The plaintiff says thatvhenhe inquired at SBA Bladquarters as to the tsis
of the recruitment actionse was told that the actions had been canceled by Fa§\@hb at
that time was the Associate Administrator GCBD. SeeTaylor Dep. at 45:182, ECF 14-2.

In addition to the informal interviewdhe plaintiff also filedswornaffidavits in
connection with botliEEO administrativeomplaints. The affidavit for Ms. McClamwas filed
on August 26, 2008, artte dfidavit for Ms. Butlerwas filedon October 2, 200&ollectively,
the “2008 Affidavits”). Def.’s SMF {26—29. In the affidavit submitted on Ms. Butler’'s behalf,
the plaintiff admitted that “I have no knowledge what [Ms. Ott’s] motivationgweut he
nevertheless speculated that “this was done because of Ms. Butler’s race orexdoseiMs.

Ott is white and Ms. Butler is blackSeeDef.’s Mot. Summ J. EXX at 2-3. The plaintiffdid

* Ms. Ott began working in the GCBD in January 208@ePl.’s Opp’n Ex. 2, at 6.

> The full transcript of the plaintiff's deposition is attached as Exhibit Ae¢adesfendars Motion for Summary
Judgment.SeeECF No. 142. Although the plaintiff stated in his deposition that he was “shotkditid that a

lady by the name Fay Ott had canceled the recruitment actioAsigust 2008, Taylor Dep. at 45:222, the record
is clear that the plaintiff was aware about the actions being canceled much dréiealaintiff was aware that the
recruitment actions had been canceled at least as early as May and June 2008wmiseintbeviewed by the EEO.
SeePl.’s Opp’n Ex. 1, at 7id. Ex. 2, at 6.

®In his earlier affidavit submitted on Ms. McClam’s behalf, the plainitifipy stated, “I do not know with absolute
certainty if [Ms. McClam] was subject to discrimination.” fDEMot. Summ. J. Ex. J. at 3.
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notimplicateKarenHontz, the Director of Government Contracting, in the cancelafitdmeo
recruitment actions or any wrongdoimgeither affidavit though he did list her as a potential
“witness[]” in one of the affidavitsld. Ex. J. at 4. In fact, Ms. Hontz was not listed as a
“Primary Responding Official’n either EEO complaint. Rather, in the 2008 Affidavits, the
plaintiff stated, “[i]t is my understanding that [the recruitment action forNtsClam] was
withdrawn by . . . Ms. Fay Ott,” Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. Ex. J at 3, and that “[i]t Wasrdfay Ott
or Jovita Carranza” who called back Ms. Butler’s recruitment adtioix. K at 2. The plaintiff
alleged in his Complaint, howevehat “[t]he senior officials at the SBA who are the target of
the claims of discrimination against Ms. Butler and Ms. MaCéaeKaren Hontz and Calvin
Jenkins.” Compl. § 15. In his deposition, he again identified Ms. Hontz as the target of the
Butler and McClam discrimination claims, explainth@t “knowing how close [Ott and Hontz]
are professionally,he was “very conflent that Fay Ott and Karen Hontz [canceled the
recruitment actions] toge¢h” Taylor Dep. at 59:16-18.

The plaintiff contends that the SBA—and specifically, Ms. Hontetaliated against him
for filing these affidavitghrough a series of actions thatdrgues were “designed to destroy his
SBA career” and “cripple his effectiveness asdaea Director’ Pl.’s Opp’n at 10-11, ECF No.
17. In particular, he claims thas. Hontz(1) falsely lowerechis 2008 performance evaluation,
(2) denied his requests to hire additional staff, (3) denied his requests to travelhigtregion,
(4) denied his request telemmute on a fixed schedule, and gbpjectechim to unjustified
monitoringandcriticism of his performanceld.

2. Performance Evaluation
SBA empbyees are rated each year by one supervisor r@hied official’) on a scale

from one to fiveon a series of “Critical Elementsuch as “customer service,” “leadership,” and

" The plaintiff alleges in his SMF that the affidavits “suggest[] that Wtz may also have taken the action,”
though the affidavits themselves do not support that asse&ieeR].’s SMF at 20.
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“people management and responsibilities,” and the evaluation iseWiewedand approvety

a second supervisahg ‘reviewing official’). SeePl.’s Opp’n Ex. FFrat 3-4 (listing “Critical

Elements”);SBA Standard Operating Procedure 34 JI50OP 34 30 4”) effectiveMay 15,

2000)at 16-18,available athttp://archive.sba.gov/sops/3430/sop34304(@dscribing review

procedures).These' Critical Elements are averaged for each employee, and that numerical

score corresponds with a “summary level” rating. 3ilmmmary levels are as follows:

“Unacceptabl&(less than 2.0);Minimally Successful” (2.0 to 2.99), “Fully Successful” (3.0 to

3.59), ‘Exceeds Fully SuccesstyB.6 to 4.59), and “Outstanding” (4.6 to 5.5)SOP34 30 4,

at 17. More specifically, while an “Exceeds Fully Successful” rat;mfv]ery good

performance which deservegecial recognition,” an “Outstanding” rating is “[p]erformance of

excellent quality that is exceptional and usually deserving of a performance. avd.
Performance awards at the SBA are of three varieties: (1) Quality Step Incre@ke; (“Q

(2) Sustained Superior Performance (“SSP”); and (3) Superior AccomplishrBéi).(“Id. at

22. A QSlis anincrease in an employee’s pay by “one step or rate” of the empl@&@ay

grade’ To receivea QSI, an employee must (a) be “paid at leas the maxiram step of [his]

grade,” (b) receive an “Outstanding” rating, (c) be recommended by hig ddticial; and (d)be

approved by an appropriate “approving official,” which for a QSI is eitheaadgement Board

Member or a District Directorld. at 22-23, 44. An SSP and an SA are both “tinee lump

sum cash paymentsld. at 22. An SA requires at least a “Fully Successful” rating, and an SSP

requires at least an “Exceeds Fully Successful” ratidg.

8 The “Outstanding” ratig is also referred to as an “Excellent” rating, and the “Exceeds Fully Stidéeating is
also referred to as an “Exceeds Expectations” ratBeg, e.g.Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. Ex. FF at 1. The Court will
refer to these pairings of ratings interchaatg.

° At all relevant times, the plaintiff was a @5 pay grade employe&eeDef.’s Mot. Summ. J. Ex. FF, ECF No.
14-7.
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The plaintiff received m “Outstanding’rating in four ofthesix yearsprior to filing his
Complaint (2005-2007 and 2009) and &x¢eeds Fully Successfulating in the other two
years(2008 and 2010)SeeDef.’s Mot. Summ. JEx. EEat 1 From 2008 to 2010, the plaintiff
received an SSP Hermance Award each year, ranging from $1,200 to $2,500 per lgbat
11, 18:id. Ex. FF at 13? In 2008, the plaintiff initially received an “Outstanding” rating frora hi
rating official, Linda Korbol put he plaintiff's reviewing official,Ms. Hontz lowered the
plaintiff's rating to an“Exceeds Fully Successtil SeeDef.’s SMF{ 168-70; Def.’s Mot.
Summ J. Ex. C at 30:20-31:4dl; Ex. FF at 1.Ms. Hontz lowered three of the plaintiff's
“Critical Elements” from fives to either threes or fouts.the comments attached to her
evaluation, Ms. Hontz stated, under the “Critical Element” of “People management
responsibilities,” that the plaintiff's “actions with employees led to EEO compl@gdsagainst
upper management”; he “did not approvedelamuting in line with regulatiorissome of his
employees “did not have proper personal business commitment plans”; and his faatings
employees did not have sufficient justification.” Def.’s Mot. Summ J. Ex. 2F at

The plaintiff was not the only SBA employee whose 2008 performance rating was
decreased upon review by Ms. Hontz. In 2008, Ms. Korbol gheenployes whom she rated
an “Outsainding’rating,and Ms. Hontz, athe reviewing officialdecreased at least four of
thoseemployees’ ratingancluding the plaintifs. SeeDef.’s SMF {1169 171. Although the
plaintiff appealed to Ms. Hontz to reinstate his “Outstandragihgand later submitted a
“Statement of Disputeto Calvin Jenkins-the Deputy Associate Administrator for the GCBD
and Ms. Hontz’s direct supervisomskingthatMr. Jenkinsreinstate hisOutstanding” rating,
both Ms. Hontz and Mr. Jenkins denitd@ plaintiff'srequests.SeeDef. Mot. Summ. J. Ex. HH

at 2-3, ECF No. 14-8.

1 There is no evidence in the record regardimgtperformance awards, if any, that the plaintiff received prior to
2008.
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On December 19, 2008, the plaintiff appeditrd Jenkins’sdenial of his “Statement of
Dispute” tothe SBA’s Office of Hearings and Appeals@HA”). Seed. Thepresiding
adjudicator of that appeal, Administrative Judge Holleman, concluded on March 20th2@09,
the SBA had “met its burden of supparg [the plaintiff's] performance rating with substantial
evidencé and found that the plaintiff had failed to demonstrate that he had performed any
activitiesthat “would justify a Level 5 rating.’ld. at 6. Administrative Judge Holleman also
specifically addressed Ms. Horiizcomment in her evaluation about the plaintiff's “actions with
employees legdding] to EEO complaints [being] filed.” He stated that “the Agency should not
have held against [the plaintiff] the filing of EEO complaints by two unitiedtemployees”
because “the mere fact that an employee has exercisedh@sroght to file a complaint. .
cannot be grounds for criticizing the supervisor or for giving that supervisor adeai@ation
than he or she would have otherwise receivéd. Nevertheless, Administrative Judge
Holleman denied the plaintiff's appe&.

3. Hiring Requests

The SBA like many government agencies, has experienced a steady decline in its staff
sizes over the pastn to twenty years due to budget constraintsf.’ ®SMF{ 69. Between
2003 and 200& patrticularthe number of employees working in the Areaf6o® decreased,
leaving Area 5 withthe gnallest staff of all the Areadd. | 71, 74. By February 2008, when the
plaintiff first became acting Area 5 Directtinere werenly twelveemployes in the Area 5
office, id. § 73, andnly one employee in the plaintiff's immediate offiéd,’s SMF at 14.

Because ofhe staffing shortfalls in Area, the plaintiffwas “vocal about his desire to

hire more staff and in February 2009 hemailed hisupervisors (David Loines and Charles

" The phintiff received the same performance rating in 2010 as he did in R8Q8Exceeds Expectations’ee
Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. Ex. EE at 4426, though Ms. Hontz was not in the plaintiff's supervisory chain at the time
the 2010 performance evaluation wamfized,seeTaylor Dep. at 160:E25. The plaintiff stated in deposition
testimony that he does not consider “Exceeds Expectations” to be a bad Sstinglat 168:1%+13.
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George)' requesting to hire additional staite., a Deputy Area Director, a Program Assistant,
an Industrial Specialist, a Size Specialstd an administrative assistaitef.’s SMF 1 78, 85,
102. Indeed, all of the Area Directors submitted staffing requéstswere notilled due mainly
to budget constraintdd. 1186-92. Ultimately, the plaintifivasauthorizedo hireat least five
individuals for his Areaince becoming Area 5 Directancluding four Procurement Center
RepresentativeEPCRs”), and one Commercial Marketing Representdti@&R”) . 1d. 1 107
see alsdef.’s Mot. Summ. JEx. W.

The plaintiffalsorequested a desk audit for Stephdrewis,aCMR inthe Area 5 office,
so that she could obtain an accretion of duties promotion to Deputy Area Difeefds SMF
1 140. The plaintiff's predecessas Area Director had al¢ned to obtain the same promotion
for Ms. Lewis, but his “requests were never acted upon by headqualitkr§.139. Ms. Hontz
denied the plaintiffsequesin January 200%eeTaylor Dep. at 180:19-181:4, and according to
the defendant the denial wdse to budget constraints and a diminishing need for supervisory
positions beause staffing levels had decreaskt {1131-33. The plaintiff contends, however,
thatfunds were available for additional staff and that Ms. Hontz denied his request for Ms.
Lewis’s desk audit (and thus his ability to obtain a GS-14 empldgeejaliate against himSee
Pl.’s SMF at14-15.

4, Travel Requests

Because Area Directors supervise employees in offices lottatmayhout their
designated region, thepmetimes travel to these satellite offic&eeDef.’s SMF {{112-15.
To do so, Area Dirdors submit travel requeststtteir supervisors, whoonsiderthe Area
Director’s budget and reviemequests on a cady-casebasis. Id. 1109-10, 121. fAe plaintiff

submitted several travel requests as Area Director, several of which wereeappybis

12 At that time, Mr. Loines was the Acting Deputy Director for Govemin@ontracting, and Mr. George was the
Acting Assistant Director for Contract Assistance. Def.’'s SME4]L6.
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supervisorsseeDef.’s Mot. Summ. J. EXx. Y, but at least one of those requests was denied in the
fall of 2008 by Ms. Hontzsee idEx. Z According to the plaintiff, “Ms. Hontz approved [his]
travel requests prior to Qatter 2, 2008,1.e., the dag¢ the plaintiff submitted his affidavit in Ms.
Butler's EEO proceedingPl.’s SMFat 15.

The one denial of a travel request took place in September or October of 20G&gafter
plaintiff hadprepared @&ravel voucher in the amount of $127.32 for a ligpmade to San
Antonio on August 11, 2008, the purpose of which was to provide orientation and training to a
new employee therdd. at 15-16. The defendant states thedvel requests like the plaintiff's
were regularly denied due to “very strict budgenstraints,” and that Ms. Hornterselfdenieda
number of ¢ther Area Directors’ travel requests2008 and 2009SeeDef.’s SMF 113-15,
118-20. The plaintiff however, claims that Area 5 had “an abundance of travel funds in 2008”
and that his “negtjible” travel request was dwarfed by the “several thousand dollars” that he
claimswere availablen the Area 5 travel budgeSeePl.’s SMF at 16.

5. Telecommuting Schedule

The SBA permits eligible employees to telecommutigich allows approved employees
to work “one or more days at home or at an approved alternate duty station rathertiban in t
traditional office.” Def.’s MotSumm. JEx. Oat 7, ECF No. 15-1.A telecommuting employee
may either work from home or a “telecenter,” which is a governrogmted office site near the
employee’s homeld. at 10. Telecommuting scheduke® either “predetermined” i.e., fixed),
where the employeand his supervisor agree osecific schedule for wodays spent at home,
or “intermittent” (.e., ad hog, whee the employee must subraitequesto his supervisoeach
time he wantdo telecommute See idat 18-19;see alsdef.’s Mot. Summ. J. Ex. Rafl hoc

telecommuting “should be preapproved for a specific project [or] need”).
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Before moving to Texas in August 2008 to take up his posisolrea Director, the
plaintiff built a house in a suburb of Austin, Texadled Lakeway, whicls over 200 miles
(approximately 3.5 hours by car) from the Area 5 District Office in FortthVdef.’'s SMF
1148, 60—61.The plaintiff's home is so far from his office, in fact, that his usual practitee is
travel to Forth Worth at the beginning of the week, stay in a hotel, and then return to @iathom
the end of the weeld. § 63. On July 3, 2008, thégmtiff submitted a requedb Ms. Hontzor
a fixed telecommuting schedul&eeDef.’s Mot. Summ. JEx. P. Ms. Hontz instead approved
anad hoctelecommuting schedule for the plaintiff on July 9, 2(Q€f8ctively denying the
request for a fixed schedulahd notified the plaintiff about her decision viaeil, explaining
that “[s]ince Area [5] has been without a resident director for a long time, it crtiamp for you
to be in the office or working the regionld. Ex. R. At the time, he plaintiff responded th&e
“concur[red] with her reasoning.ld. Now, however, the plaintiff disputéise reasoimg of Ms.
Hontz'sdenial becausthe supervises all but two employees by telephone’tiagcfore he
could just as effectivglperform his job from his home. RL.SMF at 17 Unable to
telecommute on a fixed schedule, ghaintiff hasoptedto participate iran“alternative work
schedulé,in which he works nine hour days and has every other FridayD&f.'s SMF{ 65.

6. Monitoring and Criticism of Work Performage

On January 29, 2009, Ms. Hontz sent anaal to Mr. Loinesthe Acting Deputy
Director for Government Contracting and plaintiff's secdenvkl supervisorasking him to
retrieve a copy of Stephanie Lewis’s Personal Business Commitnaen‘PBCP")®in
response to the requested desk audit of Ms. Lewis. Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. Ex. CC, ECF No. 14-7.

Ms. Hontz stated that “there is no position available for Deptigfshe was “not going to

13 A PBCP is a document that “serve[s] as [an] individual performance contacifriployeesSeeU.S. Gov't
Accountability Office, GAO 0895, SmalBusiness Administration: Opportunities Exist to Build on Leadership’s
Efforts to Improve Agency Performance and Employee Morale 21 (2008).
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approve any back dooring of a position,” dhdtshe did “not wat [the plaintiff] to create
additional personnel problems as he did in the office of contract assistdhcd.he next day,

Ms. Hontz sent an e-mail to Mr. Loines and Mr. George expressing her faustnatih how the
plaintiff had handled the assiggiof responsibilities ta newly hired employee in his Are8ee

id. Ex. DD. In this e-mail, Ms. Hontz asked Mr. Loines and Mr. George to obtain the PBCP of
the plaintiff's entire staff as well as “a list by person of what buying activitidgpame

cortractors and other duties . . . each person is doilatly.’According to the plaintifand Mr.
George no other Area Directors were required to provide this information. Pl.’s SMF at 5;
George Depat 30:15-21%

After receiving the PBCPs from the plafhas requested, Ms. Hontz noted, vianeil to
Mr. Loines and Mr. George on February 2, 20688eral errors in Ms. Lewis’s PBCP and asked
Mr. Loines and Mr. George to review all of the Area 5 PBCPs for eresDef.’'s Mot.

Summ. JEx. KK at 1740.In that same-eail, Ms. Hontz stated th#te plaintiff's “work

regarding managing staff is unacceptable at the momaht.Ms. Hontz requested that Mr.

Loines and Mr. George have a conversation with the plaintiff regarding her cem@tmut the
plaintiff s personnel management, and Mr. Loines and Mr. George conveyed those concerns to
the plaintiff in a conference call on February 4, 2088eDef.’s SMF 162—63.

OnFebruary3, 2009 Ms. Hontz held a meeting with the plaintiff's immediatel
secand-line supervisors (Mr. George and Mr. Loines, respectively) to discuss Mr.eZeneyv
detail to the Assistant Director for Contract Assistart®e plaintiff’'s former position Def.’s
SMF 11147-48. In this meeting, Ms. Hontz and Mr. Loines generally provided Mr. George with
an orientation ohis responsibilities George Dep. at 86:5. Ms. Hontalsomade clear to Mr.

George that she wanted him to review the plaintiff's time and attendance, inaviddsavel

14 All cited portions of Mr. George’s deposition are included in either Exhtbithe defendant’s Motion for
Summay JudgmentECF No. 144, or Exhibit 4to the plaintiff's oppositionECF No. 174.
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vouchers because she did not “want Mr. Taylor to create the same personnel pirobisms
Area 5 that he did while he was the assistant director in Contract Assistéohcat'87:3—6,
91:13-16. Ms. Hontz specifically referenced the EEO complaints that had beery fild b
McClam and Ms. Btler in this meeting, telling Mr. George that “Mr. Taylor was responsible for
those EEOs.”ld. at 19:7-11. Mr. George interpreted Ms. Hontz’s comments to equate the
referenced “personnel problems” with the EEO complaints filed by Ms. Mc@tahMs. Buttr.
Id. at 24:18-22.

Finally, in April 2010 (after the plaintiffiled the instant action), the plaintéihd Ms.
Hontz “had an exchange” at a national SBA Government Contracting conferencehimyitas
D.C. SeeDef.’s Reply to Pl.’s Statement of Mai@rFactsin Dispute (“Def.’s SMF Reply”)
1 13, ECF No. 19:1PI.’s SMF at 12. During this “exchange,” the plaintiff claithat when he
was making a presentation in front of approximately 100 people, Ms. Hontz “suddenly stood up
and shouted at [him] to sit down before he had completed his presentation.” Pl.’s SRAH &t

B. Procedural History

On May 21, 2009, the plaintifiied a complainwith the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission“EEOC").'® SeeDef.’s Mot. Summ. J., Ex. LL, ECF No. Bi-In the EEOC
complaint, the plaintiff alleged that the defendam-retaliation for his participation iather
SBA employeeseEOdiscrimination investigatiorslowered his performance evalion in
2008,denied his right to telecommutgniedhis request$o recruit additional staffdenied his
requests to travel throughout his Araad unreasonably criticized his performanSeeid. at 3-

4. The plaintiff “received a Final Agency Decision dated April 22, 2010, stating thatihe ha

> The date listed on the EEOC complaint is May 21, 2009, though the plasisftie filing date as May 22, 2009
in his Complaint.ComparePl.’s Opp’n Ex. LL at 1with Compl. 5. The Court will use the earlier date of May 21,
2009, though thigliscrepancyhas no effect on the disposition of this case.
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failed to meet his burderf adducing by a preponderance of the evidence that management
discriminated against him on the basis of retaliation.” Def.’s §MI9.

After issuance of the Final Agency Decision, the plaintiff filed a complaintisnGburt
on June 25, 2010. Pending before the Court is the defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment,
ECF No. 14%°
. LEGAL STANDARD

Federal Rulef Civil Procedure 56 provides thetmmary judgment shall be granted “if
the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and titasnova
entitled to judgment as a mattd#rlaw.” FED. R.Civ. P.56(a). Summary judgment is properly
granted against a party who “after adequate time for discovery and upon motion . . . faketo m
a showing sufficient to establish the existef an element essential to that party’s case, and on
which that party will bear the burden of proof at triaCélotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317,
322 (1986). The burden is on the moving party to demonstrate that there is an “absence of a
genuinessue of material fact” in disputed. at 323.

In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the Court must draw all justifiable
inferencesn favor of the nonmoving party and shall accept the nonmoving party's evidence as

true. Anderson v. Liberty Lolyh Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 255 (198 state of Parsons v.

15 On February 16, 2012, the plaintiff moved for an oral hearing to respond tm#uoetirate manner in which the
Defendant sets forth the record’ita Reply. SeeRequest for Hearindg;CFNo. 20 The Court finds that the
parties’ arguments have been sufficiently laid out in their papérsvéirtherefore deny this motion pursuant to
Local Civil Rule 7(f), which sites that allowance for an oral hearing “shall be within the discretitme @ourt.”

On March 7, 2012, the plaintiff alf§ited a Motion to $rike the Defendant’s ReplgeeECF No. 22¢iting the reply
brief's failure to adhere tthe 25page limit forreply memoranda of law undeocal Civil Rule 7(e)because the
defendant attached a-pége exhibit, ECF No. 19, to its 2tpage memorandum of law, ECF No. Tkhe page
limitation in Local Civil Rule 7(e)klearly refers to the “memorandum” lafv and does natncompasattached
exhibits It is for this precise reason that the plaintiff did not run afoul of thegagfe limit in LCVR 7(e) when he
filed his opposition to the defendant’s motion for summary judgment by filath a 24page memorandum of law
and over300 pages of attached exhibitSeeECF Nos. 17, 12 to 1729. Accordingly, because the defendant’s
submission of a “Reply to the Plaintiff's Statement of Material Factdgpude” as an exhibit to the reply
memorandum of law did not coumtvtard the 25age limit under LCVR 7(e), the Court will also deny the
plaintiff’s motion to strike.
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Palestinian Auth.651 F.3d 118, 123 (D.C. Cir. 2011). The Court is only required to consider
the materials explicitly cited by the parties, but may on its own accord eofisttier materials
in therecord.” FED. R.Civ. P.56(c)(3). For dactual dispute to be “genuine,” the nonmoving
party must establish more than “the mere existence of a scintilla of evidenagpworisof its
position,Liberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 252, and cannot simply rely‘orereallegations or
conclusory statementsee Veitch v. England71 F.3d 124, 134 (D.Cir. 2006);Greene v.
Dalton, 164 F.3d 671, 675 (D.Cir. 1999);Harding v. Gray 9 F.3d 150, 154 (D.CCir. 1993);
accordFeD. R.Civ. P.56(e). Rather, the nonmoving party must present specific facts that would
enable a reasonable jury to find in its favBee, e.g.FeD. R. Civ. P.56(c)(1). If the evidence
“is merely colorable, or is not significantly probative, summary judgmentbeayranted.”
Liberty Lolby, 477 U.S. at 24%0 (citations omitted):[A] complete failure of proof
concerning an essentielement of the nonmoving parsytase necessarily renders all other facts
immaterial.” Celotex 477 U.S. at 323. In that situation, “[tlhe moving parteiitled to
judgment as a matter of law’ because the nonmoving party has failed to makeiarguffi
showing on an essential element of her case with respect to which she has the bunalsii of
Id. “Self-serving testimony does not create genuinegs®f material fact, especially where that
very testimony suggests that corroborating evidence should be readily &/aifablds v.
Office of Johnsonb20 F. Supp. 2d 101, 105 (D.D.C. 2007).
1. DISCUSSION

The plaintiff allegs in his single count of retaliation that the SBA “improperly subjected
him to false evaluations,” and “unjustified and akagriticism of his performancedenied him
the “conditions and terms of employment necessary to perform his position,” allationabf
the retaliation praision of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 20008¢a). Compl. {R2-23. More
specifically, the plaintiff claims that the SBA or its agesubjected him to a punitive “fishing
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expedition,”falsely lowered hiperformance evaluation in 2008, denied his requestise¢o
additional staff, denied his requests to travel within his region, denied his reguests t
telecommute on a fixed schedule, and humiliated him in front of his collea§eeBl.’s Opp’n
at10-13. The plaintiff claims that all of these actions weesidned to punish him for engaging
in protected activity, “to destroy his SBéareer,”and to “harass” himld. at 10, 14, 16-17.

The defendant has moved for summary judgment on the grthetds the plaintiff
failed to timely exhaust his telecommuticl@im, (ii) none of the otheallegedemployment
actions constitute “materially adverse actiosgfficient tostate a claim for retaliation, (iithere
is no causal connection between the plaintiff's protected actwid the alleged retaliatory
actions, andiv) there is no evidence of retaliatory motive or intent to suggest that the
defendant’s legitimate, nogiscriminatory reasons for taking the allegedly adverse actions were
pretext for discriminationSeeMem. P. & A. in Supp. Def.’s Mot. $um J. (“Def.’s Mem.”) at
2, ECF No. 14. For the reasons discussed below, the Court concludes that (1) the plaintiff has
failed to plead a hostile work environment claim, (2) the plaintiff faaléchinistrativelyto
exhaust his claim regarding his telecouatimg request in a timely fashion and (3) none of the
remaining employment actions constitute adverse employment actions as afratter

A. The Plaintiff Has Not Constructively Amended His Complaint to Include a
Hostile Work Environment Claim

At the outset, the Court must address one issue of scope. Although the only claim
included in the plaintiff's Complaint is one for retaliation, the plaintiff also ajgpeanaise a
claim for a hostile work environment in his opposition brief by cithreylegal stagard for a
hostile work environment clainsgePl.’s Opp’n at 9—10 (citingnter alia, Harris v. Forklift
Sys, Inc, 510 U.S. 17, 21 (1993)), and, in the same section of his tiigfacterizinghe
defendant’s actions as “a fidtale attack on him pswnally” that involved “frequent, pervasive,

intimidating, insulting, [and] humiliating” conductee id.at 10.
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To the extent the plaintiff is arguing that pieadeda hostile work environment claim in
his Complaint, that argument is not supported by the face of his allegations. Thai@bomas
clearly captioned as one count of “Retaliation,” and that single count evencaigcdites the
antiretaliation provision of Title VIl as the relevant law that was violated by trendaht’s
actions. SeeComgy. at 6-7 & 123. Furthermore, although the Complaint mentions in passing
that the defendant “harassed” hamd that certain actions were “abusivéumiliat[ing],” and
“embarrass[ing],’see id 122, 25, the Complaint uses neither the word “hostile” nor the word
“environment” to describe his clainThe latter word (“environment”) is particularly important
to describing a hostile work environment claim because, as the plaintiff hposgk out, “a
hostile work environment claim is different in kiniin a claim involving discrete acts of
retaliation” because a hostile wagkvironments an ongoing, ambiefdrm of discrimination
that is categorically distinct fromtiscreteactions of discrimination, retaliatory or otherwisgee
Pl.’s Opp’n at 1(citing Vickers v. Powel493 F.3d 186, 198 (D.C. Cir. 20073ke also Nat'l
R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgd&86 U.S. 101, 115 (2002) (“Hostile work environment claims
are differat in kind from discrete acty; Draper v. Coeur Rochester, Ind47 F.3d 1104, 1108
n.1 (2h Cir. 1998) (noting that “a hostile work environment is ambient and persistent”).
Therefore, even liberally construing the plaintiff's allegations, the Gauntludes that the
plaintiff has not peadeda separate hostile work environmelaim in his Complaint.

Furthermore, to the extent the plaintiff's references to a hostile work enment claim
in his opposition to the defendant’s motion for summary judgmedieict an efforto
constructively amend his Complaint, théfoe fails. In the main, a plaintiff is not permitted to
raise new claims at the summary judgment stage, where those claims wdeaded ;n the
complaint. See Franks v. Salaze816 F. Supp. 2d 49, 58 n.5 (D.D.C. 2011) (“[P]laintiffs cannot
use their summary judgment briefing to press claims not raised in their amenaadiat.”);
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Sharp v. Rosa Mexicano, D.C., LL496 F. Supp. 2d 93, 97 n.3 (D.D.C. 2007) (“[P]laintiff may
not, through summary judgment briefs, raise the new claims . . . because plalnidt dase
them in his complaint, and did not file an amended complairfeéderal Rule of Civil

Procedure 15(b)(2) permits “an issue not raised by the pleadings” to bedtneatl respects as
if raised in the pleadings” when the issue “is tried by the parties’ expresploed consent.”
FEDR.Civ.P.15(b)(2). While the plain terms of this Rule apply to constructive amendments of
pleadings at trialat least one Judgeithin this Circuithasconstrued this Rule to apply in the
context of a motion for summary judgment, holding thataintiff may“constructively amend”
his or her complaint at the summary judgment stage “when the parties hdjve}ikfied an

issue that was not necessarily raised in the compla8g€ Turner v. Shinsel&24 F. Supp. 2d
99, 122 n.23 (D.D.C. 2011) (citingeBb. R. Civ. P.15(b)(2)). The Court concludes that, even
assuming constructive amendments to pleadang$ermitted in this Circuit at the summary
judgment stagender Rule 15(b)! the plaintiff has not successfylinade suclanamendment
Although the defendant did respond to the plaintiff's eleventh hour insertion of a purported
hostile work environment clainseeDef.’s Reply in Supp. of Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. (“Def.’s
Reply”) at 78, ECF No. 19that response wasirsory andalways based on the premibat
“Plaintiff did not plead a hostile work environment clairsgeDef.’'s Reply at 3. When a party

responds to an attempt to constructively amend a complainé summary judgment stage

" The Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit has held thafendant may not “constructively
amend” an answer by adding affirmative deferestethe summary judgment staggee Harris v. Secretary, U.S.
Dep't of Veterans Affairsl26 F.3d 339, 3435 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (“Rule 8(c) means what it says: a party nrgst f
raise its affirmative defense in a responsive pleading before it carthrameén a dispositive motion.”). Idarris,

the D.C. Circuit emphasized that the fairest and most proper wawgiffies to add new clainas defensess by
formally amending their pleadings and that Rule 15(b) “does not apply” atithenary judgment stage “[b]ecaus
case decided on motion for summary judgment does not reach tdaat 34345 & n.3. Subsequently, the D.C.
Circuit recognized that “[i]t is an open question whether the FedetatRermit parties to impliedly consent to
‘try’ issues not raiseth their pleadings through summary judgment motior&eke Indep. Petroleum Ass’'n of Am. v.
Babbitt 235 F.3d 588, 596 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (compariteyris with Kulkarni v. Alexander662 F.2d 758, 762 (D.C.
Cir. 1978)).
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the defendant diddre, that response is essentiatigdeunder protest and does not rise to level
of “implied[ly] consent[ing]” to the hostile work environment claim being tried.

B. Plaintiff Failed to File a Timely EEO Complaint Related tothe Denial of His
Request for a Fixel TelecommutingSchedule

The defendarmtirguegshat, to the extent thétte plaintiff's claim is premised on the denial
of his request to telecommute on a fixed schedule, the plaintiff failed to exhaust his
administrative remedies for that claim in a timighion. SeeDef.’s Mem. at 1819. Indeed,
any federal employee who believes that she has been the subject of unlawiuiigion
“must ‘initiate contact’ with an EEO Counselor in her agency ‘within 45 days ofateead the
matter alleged to be discriminatory.Steele v. Schafeb35 F.3d 689, 693 (D.C. Cir. 2008)
(quoting 29 C.F.R. § 1614.105(a)(1)JA] court may not consider a discrimination claim that
has not been exhausted in this manner absent a basis for equitable ttdlingtiis requirement
of timely administrative ekaustion applie® each discrete act alleged to be discriminatory, such
that “[e]ach discrete discriminatory act starts a new clock for filing @saafleging that act.
Singletary v. District of Columbj&@51 F.3d 519, 526 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (quotigrgan 536
U.S. at 113).

In this case, the plaintiff applied for the fixesdlecommutingscheduleon July 3, 2008,
and Ms. Hontzffectivelydenied that request on July 9, 2008 by approving a diffeadritpc
telecommuting scheduléseeDef.’s SMF § 57 Def.’s Mot. Summ J. Ex. P at 1574. Although
the plaintiff wasaway on vacation at the time of this denial, Ms. Hontz informed the plaintiff, via
e-mail on August 19, 2008, that ad hoctelecommuting schedule had been appro\i&ek
Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. Ex. R. On August 20, 2008, the plaintiff responded by email to Ms. Hontz
and wrote, “Thank you for the action on my request. | concur with your reasoméhgThus,

the plaintiff was clearly awaref this action no later than August 20, 2008, yet he didnmicdte
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contactwith anEEO counselor until March 23, 2009, over seven months f4t&eeCompl.
1 5; Def.’s SMF § 176As a resultjt is clear thathe denial of thelaintiff's request for a fixed
telecommuting schedule was not administratively exhausted in a timely fashion.

The plaintiff argues that, nevertheless, his claim as it relates to the telecogireqgtiest
is “properly before the Court” becau&® he raised the lecommuting deial in his May 21,
2009 EEOC complaint and)(the defendant “never asserted any objection to litigdtiag
issue.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 3-5. Neither of these arguments, however, adestbe fact that the
plaintiff failed to contact the EE@garding the denial of his request fdixad telecommuting
schedule within 45 daysThe discrete aetthe denial—was not administratively exhausted in a
timely fashion, and therefore it cannot form the basis of the plaintiff's otbemvocedurally
sound retaliatiorause of action, regardless of whether it was referenced in the EEOC complaint
or the Complaint in the instant actioBee, e.g., Baird v. Gotbaug62 F.3d 1246, 1251 (D.C.
Cir. 2011) (holding that “discrete discriminatory acts . . . are not actioradinlee barred, even

when they are related to acts alleged in timely filed charges”) (internatignataarks omitted).

'8 The plaintiff intimates that he might be entitled to equitable tolling of the timiecper make contact with the
EEO unde9 C.F.R. 81614.105(a)(2) because “he did not realize until February 2009 of [Ms. Homiztsje to
retaliate against him.” Pl.'s Opp’n at 21. Even had the pifa@xplicitly presented this revelation as a basis for
equitable tolling, it wouldhot cure his failure to exhaubts administrative remediés a timely fashion. Equitable
tolling only applies where the employee (1) “was not notified of the liimies and was not otherwisevare of
them,” (2) “did not know and reasonably should not have been known thatd¢hengiatory matter or personnel
action occurred,” or (3) “despite due diligence [the employee] was prevaytctumstances beyond his or her
control from contacting the counselor within the time limit29 C.F.R. 81614.105(a)(2§2012) In this Circuit,
“[tlhe time may in some circumstances be tolled . . . even when a plarafaware of the adverse action in
guestion but not yet aware of the discriminatory mebehind it.” Mahoney v. Donovar824 F. Supp. 2d 49, 60
(D.D.C. 2011) (citingMiller v. Hersman 594 F.3d 8, 12 (D.C. Cir. 2010). Even so, the plaintiff admitted in his
deposition that he “immediately assumed that the reason for the [Feby2&394 conference call [with Mr.
George and Mr. Loines] was retaliation.” Taylor Dep. at 1#836:23. Therefore, the undisputed evidence
demonstrates that, at the very latest, the plaintiff should have beea efthe possibility of retaliatory animus no
later than February 4, 2009, yet he admits that he did not make contactertB@huntil March 23, 208947 days
later. SeeCompl. 15 Therefore, even giving the plaintiff every benefit of the doubt, any aguhe may have for
equitable tolling would niocure his failure to exhaust his administrative remedies in a timely fasliio respect to
the denial of his request for a fixed telecommuting schedule.

¥ The plaintiff does not make any argument that he is entitled to an equitéibleabthe administrative time
limits that would excuse his failure to exhaust his administrativedees in a timely fashion.
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C. The Plaintiff Has Failed to Create a Genuine Issue of Material Fact
Regarding Whether Any of the Defendant’s Actions Were Materially
Adverse

“Title VII's antiretaliationprovision makes it unlawful for an employer ‘to discriminate
against [an] employee . . . because he has opawsegractice’ made unlawful by Title VII or
‘has made a charge, testified, assisted, or participatedritieaVIl proceeding’ Steele535
F.3d at 695 (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 2008@)). The Court assesses Title VIl retaliation claims
under the burden-shifting framework set ouMoDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedll U.S.
792, 802—-03 (1973). First, the plaintiff must proyariana faciecase of retaliation: “(1) he
engaged in protected activity; (2) he was subjected to arsalemployment action; and
(3) there was a causal link between the protected activity and the adverse adtaamilton v.
Geithner 666 F.3d 1344, 1357 (D.C. Cir. 201®jtérnal quotation marks omitted)f theprima
faciecase is made, the “burden shifts to the defendant to prove that ‘the adversammploy
actions were taken for a legitimate, nondiscriminatory redsofousse¥V. FBI, 687 F.3d 397,
402 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (quotingt. Mary’s Honor Ctr. v. Hicks509 U.S. 502, 507 (1993)).

“[O]nce the employer asserts a legitimate, qigtriminatory reason,” however, “the
guestion whether the employee actually made out a prima facie case is ‘narébengamt’ and
thus ‘disappear[s]’ and ‘drops out of the pictureBtady v. Office of Sergeant at Arn&20 F.3d
490, 493 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (quotirst. Mary’s Honor Ctr.509 U.S. at 51Qsee also U.S Postal
Serv. Bd. of Governors mikens 460 U.S. 711, 715 (1983) (“Where the defendant has done
everything that would be required of him if the plaintiff had properly made out a faciea
case, whether the plaintiff really did so is no longer relevant.”). Thus, whereraddef has
asserted a legitimate, naliscriminatory reason for an adverse employment action, “the district
court need not-and should net-decide whether the plaintiff actually made out a prima facie

case.” Brady, 520 F.3d at 494In that situation, the sole remaigi question becomes
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“ retaliationvel nor—whether, based on all the evidence, a reasonable jury could conclude that
[the defendant’s] proffered reason for the [adverse employment action] west oet
retaliation.” Pardo-Kronemann v. Donovaf01 F.3d 599, 604 (D.C. Cir. 2010).

Nevertheless, even when a defendant has presented a legitimadiésaroninatory
reason for ammployment action, the Court must still “analyze first whether the [action taken]
was a sufficiently adverse action to support axchander Title VII.” Ginger v. District of
Columbig 527 F.3d 1340, 1343 (D.C. Cir. 2008). In this sense, “the strength of plaiotiffia
faciecase remains a relevant consideratiételly v. Mills, 677 F. Supp. 2d 206, 221 (D.D.C.
2010), and “the Qart still first must determine whether plaintiff has suffered an adverse
employment action not because that question is part of the prima facie inquirghbubecause
Title VII does not proscribe behaviors that are not materially adverse ymgao actions,”
Adewole v. PSI Servs., In@98 F. Supp. 2d 57, 62 (D.D.C. 2011) (internal quotation marks
omitted);see also McGrath v. Clintoi666 F.3d 1377, 1380 n.3 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (“Although
these [three elements of retaliation] are often described atethents that a plaintiff must show
to establish a ‘prima facie’ case of retaliation, they are also the elemeraspthamtiff must
ultimately prove in order to win his casécitation omitted); Taylor v. Solis571 F.3d 1313,
1320 n.* (D.C. Cir. 2009) (“The court can resolve [the question of retaliadiomor} in favor of
the employer based either upon the employee’s failure to rebut its explanation or upon the
employee’s failure to prove an element of her easere that her employer took a mathyia
adverse action against her."Jherefore, the Court will first discuss whether the plaintiff has
suffered an adverse employment action for purposes of his retaliation claim.

Title VII's anti-retaliation provisiorisweeps more broadly” thats substantiventt
discrimination provision.See Gaujacq v. EDF, In&601 F.3d 565, 577 (D.C. Cir. 2018ge
alsoBaird, 662 F.3cat 1250 (noting that “the concept of adverse action is somewhat broader” in
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retaliation claims)Baloch v. Kempthorné&50 F.3d 1191, 1198 n.4 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (*‘Adverse
actions’ in the retaliation context encompass a broader sweep of actions tleain thosire
discrimination claim.”) “[T] he antiretaliation provision, unlike the substantive provision, is not
limited to discrimiratory actions that affect the terms and conditions of employment.”
BurlingtonN. & Santa Fe Ry. Co.. White 548 U.S. 53, 64 (2006)This is because “[a]n
employer can effectively retaliate against an employee by taking actiodsetity related to
his employment or by causing him haoutsidethe workplace.”ld. at 63. Instead, the anti-
retaliation provision “prohibits any employer action that ‘well might have digsliadeasonable
worker from making or supporting a charge of discriminatiom.Hompson v. N. Am. Stainless,
LP, 131 S. Ct. 863, 868 (2011) (quotiBgrlington Northern548 U.S. at 68).

In determining what qualifies as an adverse employment action under Tisl@ni-
retaliation provision, the Supreme Court has provided two impiogtaiding principles that are
at times in tension with one another. On the one hand, the Court has made cleahéhat “[t]
antiretaliation provision protects an individual not from all retaliation, but from resalithat
produces an injury or harmBurlington Northern548 U.S at 67. In this vein, the Cobas
said that it “speak[s] ahaterialadversity” because “it is important to separate significant from
trivial harms” Id. at 68. Thus, “petty slights, minor annoyances, and simple lack of good
manners” cannot qualify as materially adverse actidths.The Court also haamilarly
emphasized that the standard of material adversity refers to “reactionsasbaable
employee” because “the provision’s standard for judging harm must be objectorder to
“avoid[] the uncertainties and unfair discrepancies that can plague a judicrat@determine a
plaintiff's unusual subjective feelingsId. at 68-69. On the other hand, tBeipremeCourt has
also saidhat“[g]iven the broad statutory text and the variety of workplace contexts in which
retaliation may occur, Title VII's antiretaliation provision is simply not redudible
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comprehensive set of clear ruledhompsonl131 S. Ct. at 868. Thus, the Court has “phrase|[d]
the standardni general terms because the significance of any given act of retaliatioftevill o
depend upon the particular circumstances. Context mattuslington Northern 548 U.S. at
69. In other words, “an act that would be immaterial in some situationaterial in others.”
Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).
1. Performance Rating Decrease

The plaintiff first argues that Ms. Hontz's lowering of his 2008 performanceauah
from an “Extraordinary” tan “Exceeds Expectations” was an adverse employawion
becausét caused the plaintiff to lose the opportunity fquesy increasei.g., aQSI). SeePl.’s
Opp’n at 12.“Performance evaluations are likely toibe&erlocutory or mediate decisions having
no immediate effect upon employment” and therefore “[t]he result of an evalimbften
speculative, making it difficult to remedyRussell v. Principi257 F.3d 815, 818 (D.C. Cir.
2001) (internal quotation marks omitted)o constitute a materially adverse actiorder the
Burlington Northerrstandarga performance evaluation must normalffect tangible job
opportunities or benefitsSeeTaylor, 571 F.3dat 1321 (“In order for a performance evaluation
to be materially adverse, it must affect the employee’s ‘position, gradedaiary, or
promotion opportunities.” (quotin@aloch 550 F.3d at 119%)Weber v. Battistad94 F.3d 179,
185 (D.C. Cir. 2007{lower performance evaluations “do qualify as adverse actions insofar as
they resulted in [the plaintiff] losing a financial award or an award of I@aua’particular,
“performance reviews typically constitute adverse actions only when attachiedrtcial
harms.” Baloch 550 F.3cat 1199.

The defendant contends that the plaintiff's lowered rating in 2008 was not an adverse
action becausk was “not tied to any tangible negagiconsequencegsDef.’s Mem. at 23
(internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, the relevant question beeamediser there was a
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sufficient causal nexus between 2@08lowered performance evaluation amthngible
financial harm(or a genuine issue of fact regarding such a nexus), such that the evaluation
constitutedan adverse actiorSee, e.g.Taylor, 571 F.3d at 1321 (plaintiff must “show the
evaluations were ‘attached to financial harhiquoting Baloch 550 F.3d at 1199))The
plaintiff's only evidence to support his assertion that he “lost the opportunity @8& in
2008 is his own deposition testimony and his own interrogatory resp&esfl.’'s SMF at 19.
These sort of sederving and otherwise unsupported assertions are typically not sufficient to
create a genuine issue of material fé&gee, e.gVeitch 471 F.3cat 134;Fields 520 F. Supp. 2d
at105.

The plaintiff also implicitly relies, however, upon the SBA'’s policies, whiicminate
the potentialconnection between performance evaluations and QSIs. According to those
policies, as discussed above, an “Outstanding” or “Excellent” performancagwal(the
highest possible rating) is but one of four events or conditions that musteforter an SBA
employee may receive a QSeediscussiorsuprapage 6 Yet, the plaintiff has presented no
evidence regarding the other three requirements for a QSI: (1) being [emd thian the
maximum step of his pay grade; (2) being recommended for a QSI by his rétrad; @nd
(3) being approved for a QSI by an approving offici@eeSmall Bus. AdminSOP 34 30 4at
22-23%° The recordlsoindicates that, although the plaintiff received “Outstanding” ratings in
four of the sixyearsprior to bringing this actionthe plaintiff has presented no evidence, beyond
his own clouded recollectiothat he ever actually received a QSI in any of those years. His only
purported evidence to that effect is his own deposition testimony, in whichtée ttat he

“think[s]” he received a QSI “one year,” though he acknowledfjedthn’t know which year.”

?n fact, the only evidence on this point in the record suggests that thesemenis were unlikely to be met.
Most notably, Ms. Hontz’s désion to lower the plaintiff's rating was affirmed notaerbuttwice by more senior
SBA authorities
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Taylor Dep. at 166:14-15. To find a causal relationship between lowered performance
evaluations and the loss of a financial benefit (and thus tdHatdhe lowered evaluation was
an adverse action),sdronger andlearer connection between the tisdypically required. See
Weber 494 F.3d at 185 (finding adverse action where employer gave employee fiaaverdl
in each of the three years befam@mplaining of discrimination, but not in the year aft&grke
v. Gould 286 F.3d 513, 522 (D.C. Cir. 2002n¢ling adverse action whepaintiff received
cash award “nearly every year” beforegative performance evaluation). Furthermore, the 2008
performance evaluatioitself indicate that the “Recommendation for Performance Award” was
alwayslisted as a “Sustained Superior Performance” bonus, not a QSI, and it does not appear
that Ms. Hontzver revised that award in her capacity as the reviewing offitisleeDef.’s
Mot. Summ. J. Ex. FF at 1. Finally, the record demonstth&tthe very next yeaafter the
lowered performance evaluation (2009), the plaintiff received an “Outstandimyj eand did
notreceive a QSI; indeed, he received the exact same type of performance award that he
received in 2008: a “Sustained Superior Performance” bddeeDef.’s Mot. Summ. J. Ex. EE
at 11.

In short, although the plaintiff says that he “expected” a QSI in 2008, PIl.’s Opp’n at 19,
he has failed to put forth any evidenglatsoevethat his subjective expectations were
grounded in objective realityit is certainly true that, without the “Outstanding” rating, the
plaintiff was not eligible for a QSI, but the record is also devoid of evidence to stipport
notion that, had the plaintiff kept his “Outstanding” rating, he would have received a QSI.

Weber 494 F.3d at 18fperformance evaluatiorase adverse actions when they have a “causal

% The SBA's relevant SOP indicates that it is the rating official’s respititysib “[rlecommend appropriate
recognition for his/her employees whosefpenance against standards warrants recognition,” SOP 34 30 3, at 7,
and to initiate the procedure for recommending performance avidrds22-23. These policies demonstrate that it
was almost certainly the plaintiff's rating official (Ms. Korbol), mid reviewing official (Ms. Hontz), who
recommended an SSP bonus, rather than a QSI, on the plaintiff's 2008rzerde evaluation. The plaintiff has
presented no evidence to contest that this was the case.
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relationship” to tangible financial hajnsee also Bridgeforth v. Salaz&31 F. Supp. 2d 132,
143 (D.D.C. 2011) (holdinthat“failure to award or commend plaintiff for his job performance
to his own satisfactionivas not materially adverse wheéfm]ere eligibility to be nominated for
discretionary time off and motesy awards did not entitle plaintiff to such benefits as a matter of
course”),aff'd, No. 12-5015, 2012 WL 2371601 (D.C. Cir. June 15, 261dndeed, the
uncontestedact that (1xhe plaintiffs performance award waensistentlylisted as an SSP
bonus, not a QSI, even before his rating was lowered; and thae(@hintiff continued to
receive an SSP bonus, not a QSI, when he received an “Outstanding” rating thefpllean,
demonstrate that the “Outstanding” rating has no demonstrable nexus to the aav@®1pf
otherthan merely to make an employee eligibledddSI. As a result, the plaintiff has failed to
create a genuine issue of material fact with regard to whether his 2008ma1€e evaluation
constituted an adverse employment action, and he has therefore failed to “dificistyeden
to show the evaluations were ‘attached to financial harmi@ylor, 571 F.3d at 1321.
2. Hiring and Travel Requests

The plaintiffnextcontends that, as a result of the denials of his travel and hiring requests,
he was “crippledn his ability to obtain from SBA necessary resources and other requirements to
perform his duties.”SeePl.’s Opp’n at 12. In particular, the plaintiff argues that the following
constituted materially adverse employment actions: (1) “repeated degigsgsts to increase
[the plaintiff's] staff positions,” (2) “denying Ms. Lewis’s desk audi®) @nd “denying [the

plaintiff] the right [to] travel to his satellite officés|d. at 11. The defendant does not contest

%2 One portion of th&Veberopinion could be r&d to suggest that the only required nexus between performance
evaluations and performance awards is that an employer “g[ives] perfirraamrdsipon the basis afach [of] the
employee’s rating of record in his or her annual performance evaluaiidel®r, 494 F.3d at 185 (emphasis
added). The D.C. Circuit has clarified, however, iNaberstands for the proposition that, in order for a lowered
performance evaluation to constitute an adverse action, it @ffstt{the employee’s] position, grade level, salary,
or promotion opportunities.’Baloch 550 F.3d at 1199 (emphasis addedg also Douglas v. Donovasb9 F.3d
549, 553 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (holding that “the effect of a poor evaluation isamhi too speculative to be
actionable,” unless “thavaluationdetermineshe bonus” (emphasis added) (citM@eber 494 F.3d at 18485)).
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that any of these events took m@duut rather argues thadneof themamounts t@ materially
adverse actianSeeDef.’s Mem at 21-22.

Heeding the Supreme Court’s instruction, the Court will consider the particuitxt of
the plaintiff's situation in order to determine whether any of these actioghtimave dissuaded
a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of discriminaBamlington
Northern 548 U.S. at 6@internal quotation marks omitted). The plaintiff is a manager in a
division of the government thaadbeen slowly but surely shrinking in size for several years
prior to the plaintiff assuming his current position. The plaintiff's predecesset,Martin,
testified thanoticeable budget constraints began taking effedrea 5as early as 1998nd as
a resulthis staffbegan to diminish in size, he was unable to hire an administrative assistant, and
less money became available for things like tra®sdeDef.’s Mot. Summ. J. Ex. M. at 32:1-4,
36:14-38:12, 39:1@4. Interestingly, Mr. Martin testified that the plaintiff himself denied
several requests by Mr. Martin to hire additional staff, for budgetarynsaatile he was Mr.
Martin’s supervisor.See idat 37:11-38:12Other Area Directors also testified that their
requests for hiring staff artcavel were routinelythough not categorically, denied for budgetary
reasons during the relevant time peri@eeDef.’s Mot. Summ. J. Ex. JJ at 58:1-59:14;Ex.

Q at 87:6-17, 88:24-89:18, 90:23-91:09, 94:4-95i6ally, the plaintiff himself admitted that
the reduction in staffing was due to budget constraints anti¢hats aware that budget
constraints were always relevant with respect to travel requestd aylor Dep. ab5:23-56:8,
131:23-132:9, 133:4-21, 135:15-136:6. Thus, the undisputed evidence tlatasnisat
budget constraints commonigsulted in denials of requests for resources like stafframdlat
the SBA

The plantiff also argueghat, as a result of being denied additional staff, he was “forced
to work [1,496.25] hours in excess [of] normal hours required for other area directors for
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Government Contracting field offices” over the course of 32 months. Pl.’s Opp’n @h&2.
plaintiff, however, once again offers no evidence to supporatgismenpther than the bare,
conclusory allegations in his deposition and in his interrogatory respddsesd.For such a
specific claim, there is a conspicuous absen&ipporting documentation or corroborating
testimony that would substantiate the plaintitfiaim to being foced to work in “excess [of]
normal hours.”Rather, n his deposition, he states thatdmaply calculated this figuren his
own, based on the fact that he typically “work[s] artdur day,” even though he says that Area
Directors are only “required to work a nine-hour dagéeTaylor Dep. at 191:8-24. Another
Area Director, James Gambardella, testified, however, that he geneoakly 13-hour days,
from 5:30 AM to 6:30 PM, and thatl Area Directordound that it “was challenging and
difficult to do the tasks that we were given to do with the limited resources that we had at our
discretion.” Def.’s Mot. Summ J. Ex. Q at 94:6-95:6. Thus, because the plaintifiéepeatig
and unsupported assertions are insufficient to create a genuine issuerddlfat, the plaintiff
has thereforereatedno such genuine issue with respect to whether the planasfforced to
work beyond the hours generally imposed on all Area Directors, due to budget atsstrai

The D.C. Circuit hascknowledgedhat, in certain factual circumstanceéfa] reasonable
employeamight well be dissuaded from filing an EEO complaint if she thought her emnploye
would retaliate by burying her in work Mogenhan v. Napolitan®13 F.3d 1162, 1166 (D.C.
Cir. 2010)(finding adverseemployment action where supervisor “increased [the plaintiff’'s]
workload to five to six times that of other employeesfet, whether an increased workload can
qgualify as an adverse employment action must always depend upon the pagatulr f
circumstances of the workplace at isslredeed,‘increased workloads and scarce resources are
to be expected in any workplace,” and therefore “[t}he denial of requests fooaddsupport
cannot be the basis for a retaliation claim” where a workplace isallgr&rapped for resources.
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Rattigan v. Gonzale$03 F. Supp. 2d 56, 76—77 (D.D.C. 20G&e also Ndondiji v. InterPark

Inc., 768 F. Supp. 2d 263, 282 (D.D.C. 2011) (finding no adverse action where employee
claimed “that he was deprived of a reasonallember of [supporting staff] compared to other
employees and that he was owarked”); Brodetski v. Duffeyl41 F. Supp. 2d 35, 45 (D.D.C
2001) (“It is not out of the ordinary for employees to have been expected to shouldeaan extr
load on occasion overtwoyear span, or to have been asked to step in if there were unexpected
staff shortages.”).

In the particular circumstances of this case, the Court finds that the undispadtttevi
cannot establish an adverse employment agtitmrespect to the denials of hiring and travel
requests. The record demonstrates that, due to budget constraints, denials like the one
complained of by the plaintifvere commonplace at the SBA, and in fact the plaintiff himself
denied many similar requisswhile serving as thassistantDirector for Contract Assistance.
Holding that such denials “might have dissuaded a reasonable [SBA] worker frongraakin
supporting a charge of discrimination” would “give every overworked [SBA] eneglay an
understaied office fodder for a Title VII claim."Rattigan 503 F. Supp. 2d at 76. Hence, in the
context of the plaintiff's employment, the cited denials of hiring and tragelksts were “minor
annoyances thatften take place at work and that [8BA] employees experience[d],and
therefore they cannot provide the basis for the plaintiff's retaliation clSiee. Burlington
Northern 548 U.S. at 68.

Even if denying the plaintiff's requests for staffing and travel could be deresl
adverse employment actiqrisose actions would still not constitute retaliati@h nonunder the
circumstances presented hefiéhe plaintiff has presented no evidence that would rebut the
defendant’s legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for denying thesestequéde defendant
has offered copious evidentiary support for its argument that the plaintiff's redoestvel

30



and additional staffing were denied for budgetary reasses, e.g.Def.’s Mot. Summ. J. Ex. A
at 110:13-22id. Ex. Q at 87:6-17, 98:16-2itt. Ex. T;id. Ex. JJ at 55:8-59:14. In response,
the plaintiff points to two pieces of evidence. First, he points to a single line indvi&z’si
written comments accompanying the plaintiff's 2008 performance evaiuatd said, “[the
plaintiff’'s] actions with enployees led to EEO complaints filed against upper management.”
Ex. FF at 2. Second, he points to the deposition testimony of Charles George, in whiatdhe stat
that Ms. Hontz told him about the EEO complaints filed by Ms. McClam and Ms. Butler and
that “Those two EEOs down there were caused by Mr. TayldsgeGeorge Dep. at 19:7—
20:5.

This evidence, however, is insufficient to establish retaliate@monfor a number of
reasons. First, these comments by Ms. Hontz do not criticize the plmingtipportingor
participating inprotected EEO activity, but rather they criticize himdausingthe EEO
complaints in the first place by “seek[ing] accretmfrduties promotions for Ms. Butler and Ms.
McClam which were not supported by the Office of Human Capital Management.s Reply
at 12. In other words, Ms. Hontz’s comments were critical of the plaintiffisrecas a
manager, not of his support fibre EEO process. Second, this evidence fails to create a genuine
issue of fact regarding whether Ms. Hontz had a retaliatory motive becaus®iz vhs not
implicated in either of the EEO complaints that the plaintiff supported, and thusslkhave
no apparent reason to retaliate against the plaintiff for supporting the EEflagum See, e.g.
Vickers 493 F.3d at 195-96 (no retaliation where supervisor who fired the plaintiff did not
“participate in any of the alleged incidents that ma[d]e up [the plaintifsiile work
environment claim”)Short v. Clertoff, 555 F. Supp. 2d 166, 174 (D.D.C. 2008) (holding that
plaintiff failed to rebut nofdiscriminatory reason where plaintiff’'s evidence “show[ed]
awareness [of protected activity] but not involvement or motive”). The only tetgliaotive
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profferedby the plaintiff is thaincorroborated assertion that Ms. Hontz and Ms. Ott (the
manager implicated in the EEO complaints) were frierf@keTaylor Dep. at 63:6-11. Finally,
the plaintiffs evidence does not create a genuine issue of fact about whether the d&fendan
stated reasons for denying the plaintiff's requests for staffing auel {f.e., budget constraints)
were false or whether other, similarly situated employees were treatedavorably than the
plaintiff. See, e.gBrady, 520 F.3d at 495.

3. Monitoring and Criticism of the Plaintiff's Performance

The paintiff argues that Ms. Hontequested informatiorfrom him, although not from
other Area Directors; criticized his performance; and caused “damage tdgjithtéfis]
reputation, humiliation, and drmarrassmenttiue to an incident that occurratian SBA
conference.SeePl.’'s Opp’nat 10-12. There areno genuine disputes of material fact regarding
the nature of thesactions, and none of them rises to the level of an adverse employment action
that “might have dissuaded a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of
discrimination.” Burlington Northern548 U.S. at 6@nternal quotation marks omitted)

First, the requests for information from the plaintiff are clearly not adwngtoymaet
actions. Even if Ms. Hontz did not request such informdtimm other Area Directors, requests
for business recordbat arereasonably related to evaluatiagd critiquing an employee’s job
performance, and which are not unduly burdensome or hagadeinot constitute adverse
employmengctions. See e.g, Kline v. Springey 602 F. Supp. 2d 234, 242 (D.D.C. 2009) (audit
of plaintiff's time records not adverse employment agtich Gard v. U.S. Dep’t of Educz52
F. Supp. 2d 30, 37 (D.D.C. 201@¢quests for current medical information are not adverse
actions),aff'd, No. 11-5020, 2011 WL 2148585 (D.C. Cir. May 25, 20I1he plaintiff has

offered no evidence that would allow a reasonable factfinder to conclude that MssHontz
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requestgor cerain documents on a single occasion had any effect on the plthatifhight
dissuade a reasonable employee froakimg or supporting a charge of discrimination.

The criticismof the plaintiff'sjob performancatself, delivered by Mr. Loines and Mr.
George in the February 4, 2009 conference albdoes not qualify as an adverse employment
action®® Employers are generally able to provide constructive criticism of their ergsoy
without running afoul of Title VII.See Baloch550 F.3d at 1199 (letter of reprimand was not
adverse employment action where it “contained no abusive language, but rattedated-
constructive criticism, which can prompt an employee to improve her performameshal
guotation marks omitted)Rattigan 604 F. Supp. 2dt49 (“An employer should be entitled to
discuss and even critique employees about legitimate job performance prokhtleows being
subjected to suit, because Title VII's anti-retaliation provision was not idéndenmunize
insubordinate, disruptive, or nonproductive behavior at work.” (citations and internal quotation
marks omitted)).The D.C. Circuit has held that mere criticism of an employee’s performance
does not amount to an adverse employment action unless it is connected with a tangible ha
Compare Kline v. Berpy404 F. App’x 505, 506 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (holding that “amaH from
[the plaintiff's] boss criticizing her work” is not adverse actiand Taylor 571 F.3d at 1321
(holding that “criticiz[ing] [the plaintiff] for ekibiting ‘negative behaviors™ was not adverse
employment action (citingurlington Northern 548 U.S. at 68))yith Porter, 606 F.3d at 818
(finding adverse employment action where criticism was placed in plaintfspnel file and
“could expose him to removal, reduction in grade, withholding of within grade increase or

reassignment”).The plaintiff does not argue that the criticisms leveled by Ms. Hontz or other

% To the extenthatthe emails between Ms. Hontz and Messrs. George and Loines could be considasischcri
through “written memoranda,” the criticism was not an adverse empglalyactioreitherbecause the-mails were
not placed in the plaintiff's personnel file or otherwise retained inyatkat could affect the plaintiff's “position,
grade level, salary, or promotion opportunitieSe&e Porter v. Shals06 F.3d 809, 818 (D.C. Cir. 201@)ternal
guotation marks omitted)

33



supervisors produced (or could havegquced any tangible injury or harprand therefor¢éhey
do not qualify as adverse employment actions for purposes of Title VII.

Finally, theincident at the SBA conferene¢so does not constitués adverse
employmentction. Although the event described by the plaintiff—Ms. Hontz standing up and
“shout[ing] at [the plaintiff] to sit down before he had completed his presentatios,Opp’n
at 11+12—wasundoubtedly embarrassing for the plaintiff, a single embarrassing intident
thisis not materially adverse. The Supreme Court made cl&rimgton Northerrthat “petty
slights, minor annoyances, and simple lack of good manners” will not deter reasonable
employees from making or supporting claims of discriminat®uaclington Northern548 U.S.
at 68. This is not to say that the plaintiff is whounwarranted in feeling slighted, embarrassed,
or humiliated by Ms. Hontz’s public actions, nor is it to say that, had this behavior been more
persistent, or even had it happened on multiple occasions, it could not qualify as an adverse
employment actin. Rather, the Court holds that this particular incident, within the context of
this case, is not an adverse employment action betj@lseely subjective perceptions of
stigma or loss of reputation” do not constitute adverse action under Titlé&¥tigan, 604 F.
Supp. 2d at 51.

One last argument made by the plaintiff also desea¥i@sl point of discussion. The
plaintiff argues that “[w]here, as here, there is a continuous patterrabt@ty conduct, the
conduct must be evaluated as a whole.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 13. He goes on to argue that his
retaliation claim is not necessarily premised upon any one discrete incidenathien “[i]t is all
the circumstances surrounding the interim assessment, the two day fishingiexpeitttved
by the assertion of fabricated deficiencies which were objégtbaseless, which meet the

Burlingtonstandard.”ld. at 14.
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The plaintiff is correct that a handful chses fronwithin this Circuithave recognized
that “a series of independent actions taken togetiome of which would be considered an
adverse employment action alone, can constitute an adverse employmentiacotatity.
Turner v. ShinsekB24 F. Supp. 2d 99, 114-15 (D.D.C. 2QEEE also Dorns v. Geithneg92
F. Supp. 2d 119, 134 (D.D.C. 2018gloch v. Norton517 F. Supp. 2d 345, 362-63 (D.D.C.
2007). None of these casghowever, &sactually recognized a situation where a series of non
adverse employment actioggalifiedas an adverse employment action when aggregated. In
fact,the court inNortonrecognized that there are “a number of difficulties” in proving what that
court termed afincidentscollectively-viewed retaliation claim."Norton, 517 F. Supp. 2dt
362. First, it is often difficult to distinguish between sucliacadentscollectively-viewed
retaliation claim”anda hostile work environment claingeediscussiorsuprapages 17-19.
TheNortoncourt also held that the plaintiff had not explained “how viewing the incident
collectively establishes any element of retaliation to greater effect thamgithem
separately.”Norton, 517 F. Supp. 2d at 362. In other words, the court was unable to “discern a
collective retaliation claim greater than the sum of its padsdt 363, and the Court is
presented with the same shortcoming in the instant case.

The plaintiff vaguely explains that the discrete employmentastiiscussed above
collectively constitute an adverse employment action be¢hagevere‘a full scale attack on
[the plaintiff] personally and degned to destroy his SBA caréeaand that, as a result, “he has
had difficulty sleeping at night and worried constantly about his career and fwitrSBA.”
Pl.’s Opp’'n at 10Pl.’s SMF at 1920. Notably, however, the plaintiff has presented no evidence
that would raise anbjectivefactual question about whether the defendant’s collective actions
could have threatened or might continue to threaten his career. His argumeaigiaeg ¢o his
own subjective fears and perceptions about his job seciffily.courts have consistently
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recognized that there is a difference between being “dissatisfied w#ls][avork environment”
or being subject tthad managment practice,” on the one hasde Brodetshkt. Duffey 199
F.R.D. 14, 21 (D.D.C. 2001and on the other hand, “the type of constant, pervasive oversight
of any employee’s performance identified by a proactive sdarchinor infractions as ptext
for retaliatory harassmentsee Norton517 F. Supp. 2d at 363. It is also true that, although a
plaintiff might “fear that his ‘career goals’ may be in jeopardy,” that fearsigfficient to
constitute an adverse empiognt action unless the plaintiff can “point[] to . . . objective
evidence that such a fear had a basis in feRattigan 604 F. Supp. 2d at 51. The plaintiff has
failed to create a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether aguyyebatallege
employment actions of the defendant add up to “a collective retaliation claitergtesn the
sum of its parts."Norton, 517 F. Supp. 2d at 363. Thus, regardless of whether a plaaniff
claim an “incidentscollectively-viewed retaliation clairhin this Circuit,the plaintiff has failed
to dosoin the instant case.
V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above,glantiff's Request for Hearing, ECF No. 2(hd
Motion to Strike Defendant’s Reply Brief and Statement of Material Fad&sspute, ECF No.
22,areDENIED, and the defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment, ECF Nas 14,

GRANTED. An appropriate Order shall accompany this Memorandum Opinion.

DATE: Septembep4, 2012

ISl Loyl A MotV
BERYL A. HOWELL
United States District Judge
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